### Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association

Retiree Healthcare Plan

Year Ended December 31, 2018

Financial Statements



### **Table of Contents**

	<u>Page</u>
Independent Auditors' Report	1
Management's Discussion and Analysis	4
Basic Financial Statements	
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position	9
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position	10
Notes to Financial Statements	11
Required Supplementary Information	
Schedule of Investment Returns	19
Internal Control and Compliance	
Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting	
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial	
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards	21



#### Rehmann Robson

5800 Gratiot Rd. Suite 201 Saginaw, MI 48638 Ph: 989.799.9580 Fx: 989.799.0227 rehmann.com

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

June 27, 2019

To the Bay County Board of Commissioners and the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Board of Trustees Bay County, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying statement of fiduciary net position of the *Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association Retiree Healthcare Plan* (the "Plan"), an other postemployment benefits trust fund of Bay County, Michigan, as of December 31, 2018, and the related statement of changes in fiduciary net position for the year then ended and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### Independent Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Plan's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.



#### **Opinion**

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fiduciary net position of the Plan, as of December 31, 2018 and the changes in its fiduciary net position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### Reporting Entity

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association Retiree Healthcare Plan trust fund and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of Bay County, Michigan as of December 31, 2018 and the changes in its financial position for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

#### Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the schedule of investment returns, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

#### Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association Retiree Healthcare Plan basic financial statements. The Management's Discussion and Analysis is not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The Management's Discussion and Analysis has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information.

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated June 27, 2019, on our consideration of the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Rehmann Loham LLC

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

This section of the annual report of the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association Retiree Healthcare Plan (the "Plan") presents management's discussion and analysis of the Plan's financial performance during the plan year that ended on December 31, 2018. Please read it in conjunction with the Plan's financial statements, which follow this section.

#### Financial Highlights

- The Plan's total net position increased during fiscal 2018 by approximately \$631,000. Assets are held in trust and restricted to meet future benefit payments.
- The Plan's benefits are funded by contributions from Bay County and its component units (the "County"), Bay Arenac Behavioral Health ("BABH") and active members, as well as by the investment income earned on the Plan's assets.
- The change in the fair value of investments was unfavorable for the current year. The fair value of investments had a net depreciation of approximately \$5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared with net appreciation of approximately \$5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

#### Overview of the Financial Statements

This annual report contains the Plan's financial statements, which consist of the statement of fiduciary net position and statement of changes in fiduciary net position. These financial statements report information about the Plan as a whole using accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector pension plans. The statement of fiduciary net position includes all of the Plan's assets and liabilities. All of the current year increases and decreases in the Plan's net position are accounted for in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

These financial statements report the Plan's net position and how it has changed. Net position represents the difference between the Plan's assets and liabilities, and it represents one way to measure the Plan's financial health, or position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Plan's net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.

The notes to the financial statements explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide more detailed data.

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

Financial Analysis of the Plan as a Whole

Below are the condensed statements of fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

	Net Position	
	2018	2017
Assets		
Investments	\$ 56,966,864	\$ 52,446,578
Other assets	233,219	201,911
Total assets	57,200,083	52,648,489
Liabilities	 4,083,381	163,101
Net position restricted for retiree healthcare benefits	\$ 53,116,702	\$ 52,485,388

The Plan's total assets as of December 31, 2018 were \$57.2 million and were mostly comprised of investments. Total assets increased by \$4.6 million, or 8.6%, from the prior year. The increase is primarily attributable to the increase in contributions of \$3.3 million from the prior year, offset with the net depreciation in fair value of investments in the current year.

Total net position restricted for benefits at December 31, 2018 increased by \$631,314 million from 2017. The increase is primarily attributable to the increase in the Plan's assets as discussed above.

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

Below are the condensed statements of changes in fiduciary net position for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

	Change in Net Position	
	2018	2017
Additions		
Investment income (loss):		
Net (depreciation) appreciation in		
fair value of investments	\$ (4,974,129)	\$ 5,264,369
Other income (net of investment expenses)	2,381,209	634,860
Other revenue	145	-
Contributions	8,280,505	4,977,749
Total additions	5,687,730	10,876,978
Deductions		
Benefit payments and refunds of contributions	5,052,181	4,679,302
Administrative expenses	4,235	49,346
Total deductions	5,056,416	4,728,648
Change in net position	631,314	6,148,330
Net position		
Beginning of year	52,485,388	46,337,058
End of year	\$ 53,116,702	\$ 52,485,388

#### Change in Fiduciary Net Position

The reserves needed to finance retiree healthcare benefits are accumulated through the collection of employee and employer contributions and through earnings on investments. The increase in net position of \$631,314 is the result of the increase in contributions of \$3.3 million from the prior year, offset with the net depreciation in fair value of investments in the current year of \$5.0 million compared to the net appreciated value from 2017. Also, an increase of \$1.7 million in other income in comparison to the 2017 investment income. These amounts are offset with an increase in benefit payments in the amount of \$372,879 compared to the previous year.

#### **Economic Factors**

The financial markets were volatile during the 2018 calendar year. International and domestic equity markets had considerable losses during the 4th quarter while fixed income securities outperformed equities. Economic factors contributing to the downturn effect on investments during 2018 were trade tension between the US and China, midterm elections in Congress, ongoing monetary policy tightening by the Federal Reserve, federal debt ceiling negotiations and the subsequent partial government shutdown. Going forward the beginning of 2019 has shown a strong rebound in the markets and the Plan was able to recover its 2018 year end negative investment losses by the end of March 31, 2019. Management believes the Plan will continue to meet its OPEB benefit obligations and will strive to adapt to changing market conditions and investment strategies to maximize investment returns to the Plan.

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

#### **Financial Contact**

This financial report is designed to present its users with a general overview of the Plan's finances and to demonstrate the Plan's accountability for the funds it holds. If you have any questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bay County Finance Department, Bay County Building - 7th Floor, 515 Center Avenue, Bay City, Michigan 48708.

**BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS** 

## Statement of Fiduciary Net Position December 31, 2018

December 31, 2010		
Assets		
Investments at fair value:		
Equities	\$	35,753,509
Fixed income		18,651,321
Money market		2,562,034
Total investments		56,966,864
		_
Receivables:		
Interest and dividends		117,650
Contributions		115,569
Total receivables		233,219
Total assets		57,200,083
Liabilities		
Accounts payable		69,536
Accrued liabilities		4,013,845
Total liabilities		4,083,381
Net position		
Restricted for retiree healthcare benefits	<u>Ş</u>	53,116,702

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

## Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Additions Investment income (loss):		
Net depreciation in fair value of investments	\$ (4,974,129)	
Interest and dividends	2,539,162	
Total investment loss	(2,434,967)	
	,	
Investment expenses	(157,953)	
Net investment loss	(2,592,920)	
Contributions:		
Employer	8,280,505	
Other revenue	145	
Total additions	5,687,730	
Deductions		
Participant benefits (including refunds of contributions)	5,052,181	
Administrative expenses	4,235	
Administrative expenses	4,233	
Total deductions	5,056,416	
Change in net position	631,314	
Net position, beginning of year	52,485,388	
	32, .53,300	
Net position, end of year	\$ 53,116,702	
=		

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

#### **Notes to Financial Statements**

#### 1. PLAN DESCRIPTION

General - The Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association Retiree Healthcare Plan (the "Plan") is an agent multiple employer retiree healthcare plan through a Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association ("VEBA") trust. The Plan is a defined benefit public retiree healthcare plan established effective October 1, 2001 and covers substantially all employees of the primary government. Employees of the County's component units, including Road Commission, Library System, Department of Water and Sewer, and an unrelated entity, Bay Arenac Behavioral Health (BABH), participate in the County's Plan. The purpose of the Plan is to provide medical and healthcare benefits for the welfare of certain retirees of the County and BABH and the spouses and dependents of such retirees who are participants in the Bay County Employees' Retirement System. Benefits under the Plan are provided pursuant to a group contract issued by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan. As of 2012, the Plan is closed to new participants.

The accompanying financial statements present only the financial position and changes in net position of the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association Retiree Healthcare Plan trust fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the net position or changes in net position of Bay County in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Board of Trustees consists of nine individual trustees whether elected or appointed in accordance with the County Retirement Ordinance. Four members (active employees) are elected by active members of the retirement system. Each elected position is voted on by the following four groups 1) Bay County Road Commission and Department of Water and Sewer 2) Bay County Medical Care Facility 3) Sheriff's Department and Library 4) General County and Bay Arenac Behavioral Health. The remaining trustees are the chairperson of the Bay County Board of Commissioners ex-officio or his/her designee, the Chairperson of the Ways and Means Committee of the Bay County Board of Commissioners or his/her designee, the Treasurer of Bay County, the chairperson of the Bay County Board of Human Services ex-officio or his/her designee, and the chairperson of the Bay Arenac Behavioral Health Board of Directors or his/her designee. All elected terms are for three years.

*Plan Membership* - The Plan's membership consists of the following per the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation:

Active participants:	
Retirees and beneficiaries	613
Active members	990
	1,603

Contributions - The Plan benefit provisions and contribution requirements of plan members and the County are established and may be amended by the Board of Commissioners, who also administers the plan, in accordance with County policies, union contracts, and plan provisions. The County's current policy is to fund the plan on a pay-as-you-go basis with additional amounts contributed into the VEBA trust fund. Employees make no contribution directly to the County for their share of the premiums. The employer contribution current rates, which were determined through an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2017, were as follows:

General county	\$ 2,779,319
Sheriff's department	722,085
Department of water and sewer	583,242
Medical care facility	2,620,460
Road commission	3,219,583
Library	41,351
BABH	-

#### **Notes to Financial Statements**

Contributions to the Plan for the year-ended December 31, 2018, were \$8,280,505. This amount was contributed on a pay-as-you-go basis.

Retirement Benefits - The postemployment benefits are financed on a pay-as-you-go basis, with an additional amount contributed into the Trust fund. The amount of expenditures for the benefits is recognized during the period incurred. The premiums are paid by the County. Employees become eligible for postemployment benefits if they reach normal retirement age while working for the County. Benefits for employees begin the first month following their date of retirement. For Bay County general and sheriff groups, employees hired after January 1, 2012 are not eligible for this postemployment benefit. For Bay County Medical Care Facility, employees hired after January 15, 2010 are not eligible for this postemployment benefit. For the Road Commission, employees hired after January 1, 2016 are not eligible for this postemployment benefit. The Library is open to full-time employees and the Department of Water and Sewer and BABH are open to all employees.

The insurance for General County retirees is paid for by the employer, with required copayments, if any, determined annually. The benefits provided vary on department and hire date, as follows:

Division	Benefit
General County	85% employer-paid for retiree, 50% employer-paid for spouse
Division	Benefit

Road Commission Retiree contributions are the same as active member contributions

#### Department of Water and Sewer

D	Division	Hire Date	Benefit
28		Before 1/1/2003 Between 1/1/2003 - 1/1/2008	100% employer-paid for retiree, 100% employer-paid for spouse 10-14 service years, 50% employer paid for retiree, 0% employer-paid for spouse; 15-19 service years, 100% employer-paid for retiree, 0% employer- paid for spouse; 20+ service years, 100% employer-paid for retiree, 100% employer-paid for spouse
29		Before 1/1/2007 Between 6/1/2007 and 1/1/2017	100% employer-paid for retiree, 100% employer-paid for spouse 10-14 service years, 25% employer paid for retiree, 0% employer-paid for spouse; 15-19 service years, 50% employer-paid for retiree, 0% employer- paid for spouse; 20-24 service years, 75% employer-paid for retiree, 0% employer-paid for spouse; 20+ service years, 100% employer-paid for retiree, 0% employer-paid for spouse

#### **Bay County Medical Care Facility**

Hire Date

Before 1/15/2010	100% employer-paid for retiree, 100% employer-paid for spouse
After 1/15/2010	Coverage is equivalent to that provided to active employees, including co-pays, deductibles,
	premium sharing, etc. The retiree share of the premiums is negotiated with the Union each
	year, in order to remain under the cost share caps stipulated by PA 152.

Benefit

#### **Notes to Financial Statements**

#### Library

Age/Service	Benefit
Retired age 55 with 30+ years of service	50% employer-paid for retiree, 0% employer-paid for spouse
Retired between age 60 and 65 Retired after age 65	50% employer-paid for retiree, 0% employer-paid for spouse 100% employer-paid for retiree, 0% employer-paid for spouse

#### **BABH**

Age/Service	Benefit
Below 20 years of service	Each credit year of service equates to a 5% employer paid health insurance premium with the employee being vested after 8 years of service
20+ years of service	100% employer-paid for retiree

#### 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting. The Plan's financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the economic resources measurement focus. Member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer contributions are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the OPEB Ordinance. Administrative expenses are financed through investment earnings.

Valuation of Investments and Income Recognition. Investments are stated at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. Fixed debt quotations are provided by a national brokerage pricing service. Real estate values are determined on the basis of comparable yields available in the marketplace. Investments for which market quotations are not readily available are valued at their fair values as determined by the custodian under the direction of the Board of Trustees, with the assistance of a valuation service.

Dividend income is recognized based on the ex-dividend date, and interest income is recognized on the accrual basis as earned. All realized gains and losses on investments are recognized at the point of sale and are included in investment income. Purchases and sales of investments are recorded as of the trade date, which is the date when the transaction is initiated.

#### **Notes to Financial Statements**

#### Investment Allocation Policy

The Plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the Board of Trustees. The investment policy has been formulated based on consideration of a wide range of policies and describes the prudent investment process that the Board deems appropriate. The Board established the following allocation range for each asset class in recognition of the need to vary exposure within and among different asset classes, based on investment opportunities and changing capital market conditions:

Asset Class	Target Allocation	Allocation Range
U.S. large cap equity	32%	15%-45%
U.S. mid cap equity	12%	6%-18%
U.S. small cap equity	5%	2%-10%
International equity	21%	10%-20%
Real estate	<b>7</b> %	0%-8%
U.S. core fixed income	23%	10%-40%
Total investments	100%	

#### Investments and Securities Lending

A contract approved by the Bay County Board of Commissioners permits the Plan to lend its securities to broker-dealers and other entities (borrowers) for collateral that will be returned for the same securities in the future. The Plan's custodial bank manages the securities lending program and receives securities or cash as collateral. The collateral securities cannot be pledged or sold by the Plan unless the borrower defaults. Collateral securities and cash are initially pledged at 102 percent of the fair value of United States securities lent and 105 percent of the fair value of non-United States securities, and may not fall below 100 percent during the term of the loan. The Plan did not have any securities on loan as of December 31, 2018.

#### 3. INVESTMENTS

The authority for the purchase and sale of investments rests with the Board of Trustees. The Michigan Public Employees Retirement Systems' Investment Act, Public Act 314 of 1965, as amended, authorizes the Plan to invest in domestic and foreign stocks, government securities, corporate securities, mortgages, real estate and various other investment instruments, subject to certain limitations and investment policy established by the Board of Trustees. The Investment Act incorporates the prudent person rule and requires investment fiduciaries to act solely in the interest of the Plan's participants and beneficiaries.

#### **Notes to Financial Statements**

The Plan's investments are primarily held in a bank-administered trust fund. Following is a summary of the Plan's investments as of December 31, 2018:

Investments at fair value	
Equities:	
Domestic equities	\$ 35,753,509
Fixed income:	
Asset-backed securities	847,983
Corporate bonds	11,321,267
Government bonds	6,482,071
Total fixed income	18,651,321
Money market	 2,562,034
Total investments	\$ 56,966,864

*Credit Risk.* Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. The Plan's investment policy emphasizes appropriate risk/return parameters and compliance with Public Act 314, and gives discretionary authority to its investment managers as opposed to establishing specific credit rating benchmarks.

As of December 31, 2018, Moody's ratings for the Plan's investments were as follows:

				Investme	nt T	уре		
						Money		
		Equities	Fi	xed Income		Market		Total
Aaa	\$	967,252	\$	4,181,086	\$	-	\$	5,148,338
Aa		-		1,074,034		-		1,074,034
Α		-		3,033,193		-		3,033,193
Baa		-		1,477,412		-		1,477,412
Not rated		34,786,257		8,885,596		2,562,034		46,233,887
Takal	ć	25 752 500	ċ	40 (54 224	ċ	2 5/2 024	ċ	F/ 0// 0/4
Total	\$	35,753,509	Ş	18,651,321	Ş	2,562,034	Ş	56,966,864

Custodial Credit Risk. For investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, the Plan will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Plan's investment policy requires that securities be held in trust by a third-party institution in the Plan's name or its nominee custodian's name or in bearer form. Although uninsured and unregistered, the Plan's investments are not exposed to custodial credit risk since the securities are held by the counterparty's trust department or agent in the Plan's name. Short-term investments in money market funds and open-end mutual funds are not exposed to custodial credit risk because their existence is not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book form.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Plan's investment in a single issuer. The Plan's investment policy requires that no manager will hold more than 5% of its portion of the total fund in any single company and no more than 5% may be held in any single common stock. At December 31, 2018 the Plan did not hold any investments that exceeded this threshold.

#### **Notes to Financial Statements**

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. The Plan's investment policy does not discuss the maximum maturity for any single fixed income security or the weighted average portfolio maturity.

As of December 31, 2018, investment maturities for the Plan's investments were as follows:

	Investment Type							
				Money				
		Equities	Fi	xed Income		Market		Total
Less than 1 year	\$	-	\$	79,167	\$	-	\$	79,167
1 - 5 years		-		3,827,213		-		3,827,213
6 - 10 years		-		4,915,825		-		4,915,825
More than 10 years		-		4,907,568		-		4,907,568
No maturity		35,753,509		4,921,548		2,562,034		43,237,091
		_				_		
Total	\$	35,753,509	\$	18,651,321	\$	2,562,034	\$	56,966,864

Rate of Return. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on Plan's investments, net of Plan investment expenses, was -4.64%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expenses, adjusted for the changing amounts that are actually invested.

#### Fair Value Measurement

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the assets. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observables inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The County had the following recurring fair value measurements as of year end:

Investment Type	Level 1		Level 2		Level 3		Total Fair Value	
Domestic equities Asset-backed securities Corporate bonds Government bonds	\$	35,753,509 847,983 - -	\$	11,321,267 6,482,071	\$	- - -	\$	35,753,509 847,983 11,321,267 6,482,071
Investments carried at amortized co	<u>\$</u> st -	36,601,492	<u>\$</u>	17,803,338	<u>\$</u>	<u>-</u>	į	54,404,830 2,562,034
Total							\$	56,966,864

#### **Notes to Financial Statements**

The following is a description of the valuation methodology used for assets recorded at fair value. There have been no changes from the prior year in the methodologies used.

Domestic equities and asset-backed securities classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued based on quoted market prices in active markets.

Corporate bonds and government bonds are classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and are valued using a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities' relationship to benchmark quoted prices.

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

### **Required Supplementary Information**

Schedule of Investment Returns

Fiscal Year Ending December 31,	Annual Return *
2017	12.79%
2018	-4.64%

<sup>\*</sup> Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expenses

Note: GASB 74 was implemented in fiscal year 2017. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years of data will be presented.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE



#### Rehmann Robson

5800 Gratiot Rd. Suite 201 Saginaw, MI 48638 Ph: 989.799.9580 Fx: 989.799.0227 rehmann.com

Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* 

June 27, 2019

To the Bay County Board of Commissioners and the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Board of Trustees Bay County, Michigan

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the accompanying statement of fiduciary net position of the *Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association Retiree Healthcare Plan* (the "Plan"), an other postemployment benefits trust fund of Bay County, Michigan, as of December 31, 2018, and the related statement of changes in fiduciary net position for the year then ended and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 27, 2019.

#### Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Plan's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.



#### **Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Plan's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

#### Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Rehmann Loham LLC



#### Rehmann Robson

5800 Gratiot Rd. Suite 201 Saginaw, MI 48638 Ph: 989.799.9580 Fx: 989.799.0227 rehmann.com

#### Independent Auditors' Communication with Those Charged with Governance

June 27, 2019

Bay County Board of Commissioners and the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Board of Trustees Bay County, Michigan

We have audited the financial statements of the *Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association (VEBA) Retiree Healthcare Plan* (the "Plan") as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and have issued our report thereon dated June 27, 2019. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

#### Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit

As communicated in our engagement letter dated January 29, 2019, our responsibility, as described by professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been prepared by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the Plan solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you.

#### Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our engagement letter and in our meeting about planning matters on May 6, 2019.



Bay County Board of Commissioners and the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Board of Trustees Bay County, Michigan June 27, 2019 Page 2

#### Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm has complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

#### Qualitative Aspects of the Plan's Significant Accounting Practices

Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Plan is included in Note 1 to the financial statements.

There have been no initial selections of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting policies or their application during the year.

No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

#### Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on management's current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management's current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements were:

• Management's estimate of the fair value of certain investments (primarily those that are not traded on a national or international exchange) is based on a variety of factors including the purchase price, changes in the financial condition and prospects of the issuer calculations or the total enterprise value using discounted cash flow projections, trading comparable of securities of comparable companies engages in similar businesses, estimates of liquidation value, the existence of restrictions on transferability, prices received in recent significant placements of securities of the same issuer, and other analytical data relating to the investment.

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates and determined that they are reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the applicable opinion units.

Bay County Board of Commissioners and the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Board of Trustees Bay County, Michigan June 27, 2019 Page 3

#### Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial statement user. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements relate to management's estimate of the valuation of investment securities at fair value.

#### Significant Difficulties Encountered During the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the audit.

#### **Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements**

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole and each applicable opinion unit. In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. We did not identify any misstatements during our audit.

#### Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, which could be significant to the Plan's financial statements or the auditors' report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

#### Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in Attachment A to this letter.

#### Management's Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Bay County Board of Commissioners and the Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Board of Trustees Bay County, Michigan June 27, 2019 Page 4

#### Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Plan, we generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the Plan's auditors.

This information is intended solely for the use of the governing body and management of the *Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association (VEBA) Retiree Healthcare Plan* and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Rehmann Loham LLC

## Attachment A - Management Representations For the December 31, 2018 Audit

The following pages contain the written representations that we requested from management.



### BAY COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM BAY COUNTY VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEES' BENEFICIARY ASSOCIATION

BAY COUNTY BUILDING 515 CENTER AVENUE BAY CITY, MICHIGAN 48708-5128

Jan Histed Secretary

-- ----

June 27, 2019

Thomas Ryder Sandy Shutt Shawna Walraven ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF Katie Zanotti Tracy Cederquist (989) 895-4043

> TDD (989) 895-4049 FAX (989) 895-2076

BOARD OF TRUSTEES Steven Gray, Chairperson Kristal Gonzales

> Richard Gromaski Thomas M. Herek

> > Jon Morse Matthew Pett

Rehmann Robson 5800 Gratiot Road, Suite 201 Saginaw, Michigan 48638

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Bay County *Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association (VEBA) Retiree Healthcare Plan*, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the basic financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations of the *Bay County Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary (VEBA) Retiree Healthcare Plan* in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted for governments in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting information that, in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement.

We confirm that, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves as of June 27, 2019:

#### **Financial Statements**

- We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated January 29, 2019, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of the various opinion units referred to above in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We have reviewed, approved, and taken responsibility for the financial statements and related notes.
- 2. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
- 3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.
- 4. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.
- 5. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP. For the purposes of this letter, related parties mean members of the governing body; board members; administrative officials; immediate families of administrative officials, board members, and members of the governing body; and any companies affiliated with or owned by such individuals.

- 6. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which U.S. GAAP requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.
- 7. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
- 8. With regard to items reported at fair value:
  - a. The underlying assumptions are reasonable and they appropriately reflect management's intent and ability to carry out its stated courses of action.
  - b. The measurement methods and related assumptions used in determining fair value are appropriate in the circumstances and have been consistently applied.
  - c. The disclosures related to fair values are complete, adequate, and in conformity with U.S. GAAP.
  - d. There are no subsequent events that require adjustments to the fair value measurements and disclosures included in the financial statements.
- 9. All funds and activities are properly classified.
- 10. All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, and GASB Statement No. 37, Basic Financial Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments: Omnibus, for presentation as major are identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are considered important to financial statement users.
- 11. All components of net position and fund balance classifications have been properly reported.
- 12. Deposit and investment risks have been properly and fully disclosed.
- 13. All required supplementary information is measured and presented within the prescribed guidelines.

#### Information Provided

- 14. We have provided you with:
  - a. Access to all information, of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of the various opinion units referred to above, such as records, documentation, meeting minutes, and other matters;
  - b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and
  - c. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.
- 15. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements.
- 16. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.
- 17. We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves:
  - a. Management;
  - b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
  - c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.
- 18. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entity's financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, vendors, regulators, or others.
- 19. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements and we have not consulted legal counsel concerning litigation or claims.
- 20. We have disclosed to you the identity of the entity's related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

- 21. There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with or deficiencies in accounting, internal control, or financial reporting practices.
- 22. The government has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets and liabilities.
- 23. We have disclosed to you all guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the government is contingently liable.
- 24. We have identified and disclosed to you the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreements that could have a direct and material effect on financial statement amounts, including legal and contractual provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds.

#### 25. There are no:

- a. Violations or possible violations of laws or regulations, or provisions of contracts or grant agreements whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency, including applicable budget laws and regulations.
- b. Unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has advised are probable of assertion and must be disclosed in accordance with GASB-62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.
- c. Other liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed by GASB-62.
- 26. The government has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such assets nor has any asset or future revenue been pledged as collateral, except as disclosed to you.
- 27. We have complied with all aspects of grant agreements and other contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance.
- 28. We have disclosed to you all significant estimates and material concentrations known to management that are required to be disclosed in accordance with GASB-62. Significant estimates are estimates at the balance sheet date that could change materially within the next year. Concentrations refer to volumes of business, revenues, available sources of supply, or markets or geographic areas for which events could occur that would significantly disrupt normal finances within the next year.

#### **Required Supplementary Information**

- 29. With respect to the required supplementary information accompanying the financial statements:
  - a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of the required supplementary information in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
  - b. We believe the required supplementary information, including its form and content, is measured and fairly presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
  - c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior period.
  - d. We believe the significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the required supplementary information, and the basis for our assumptions and interpretations, are reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances.

Stem 9. Dray
Chairman of the Board
Jan M. Eksted
Finance Officer